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Scope
Documentation has been gathered and collated specifically in reference to the development 
of  the property located at the corner of  Norwood Avenue and Elberon Avenue in Allenhurst, 
New Jersey, from the time of  the purchase of  the Allen Farm by the Coast Land Improvement 
Company in 1895 to the present.

The following resources and documentation have been referenced to develop the timeline, 
source images and verify architectural historic information.
	
	 Public Records:
		  National Registry of  Historic Places
		  New Jersey Registry of  Historic Places
		  Monmouth County Historic Sites Inventory
		  Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of  the New Jersey Coast
		  US Army Corp of  Engineers Aerial Photographic Survey
		
	 Publications:
		  Scientific American: Building Edition
		  Living Places – Allenhurst Residential Historic District
		  Asbury Park Press (Asbury Park, New Jersey) 
		  The Daily Register (Red Bank, New Jersey) 
		  Monmouth Democrat (Freehold, New Jersey
		  Long Branch Record (Long Branch, New Jersey)
		  The Shore Press (Asbury Park, New Jersey)
		  The Amateur Gardener” Arts & Decoration Volume XXXVIII

	 Books:
		  A Field Guide to American Houses: The Definitive Guide to Identifying and 	
		  Understanding America’s Domestic Architecture; Virginia Savage McAlester
		  The Colonial Revival House; Richard Guy Wilson.
		  Images of  America – Around Deal Lake; Allenhurst, Deal, Interlaken & Loch 	
		  Arbour; Marie A. Sylvester
		  Images of  America – Township of  Ocean; Marjorie Edelson & Kay Zimmerer

This documentation is being provided with the intention of  updating information in the historic 
records of  Allenhurst, for the property referred to as 205 Elberon Avenue.
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Brief  Summary of  the Property History

Toward the end of  the nineteenth century; business fortunes were on the rise, an affluent middle 
class was growing, and there was a rise in leisure time and improved transportation systems.  
In 1895 the Coast Land Company purchased the 120 acre Allen Farm, with the intention of  
establishing an exclusive shore resort community, later to be named Allenhurst.  As early as 1896 
residents included, James J. Belden, a former New York Congressman; Clarence W. Francis, 
a deputy Attorney General from New York, as well as judges, lawyers, and other prominent 
businessmen, as noted within an historic summary of  the Allenhurst Residential Historic 
District assembled by the Gombach Group entitled “Living Places”.  Hon. James J. Belden, in 
1898, became the new owner of  the corner lots at Norwood Avenue and Elberon Avenue (its 
original 7 lot parcel; #319 - 325) purchased from Alanson Page.  It is unclear if  the property was 
developed at this time, the purchase price of  $12,500 would indicate some development.  
In a 1901 issue Scientific American - Building Edition, “a residence of  Colonial treatment” 
was published, identifying the owner as Hon. James J Belden.  The article also attributes the 
design of  the residence to the New York City based Architect, Mr. Charles W. Romeyn, whose 
documented work is primarily found to be within New York City.  

The late nineteenth century and early twentieth century is identified by an Eclectic movement 
in American architecture which draws upon a full spectrum of  architectural traditions, nested 
under the umbrella of  Colonial Revival.  The features of  the primary residence on the Belden 
Estate align closely with a Neoclassical subtype of  the Colonial Revival Style.  The recent 
World’s Columbian Exposition of  1893 in Chicago brought national attention to this stately 
architectural style. 

As catalogued in “A Field Guide to American Houses – The Definitive Guide to Identifying and 
Understanding America’s Domestic Architecture” (pages 409 – 446) the primary residence at 45 
Norwood Avenue has been composed using characteristics that lie within the broad category of  
Colonial Revival and the subtype of  Neoclassical.

Connecticut Building, World’s Columbian 
Exposition, Chicago, Illinois, 1893.

Kentucky Building, World’s Columbian Exposition, 
Chicago, Illinois, 1893.

Attributes placing the residence within the Neoclassical subtype are the following:
		  •     Full-height Entry Porch with lower full width porch
		  •     Front gabled roof
		  •     Detailed and ornamental columns – 2 story scamozzi piers and minor scamozzi and 	

	       doric porch columns
		  •     Cornice with modillion ornamental brackets
		  •     Rectangular double hung sash and bay window, the large single panes of  glass are 	

	       evidence of  contemporary technology and a sign of  wealth
		  •     Neoclassical X-patterned balustrade capped with urns, also referred to as Chinese 	

	       Chippendale.
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Attributes that align with the overarching category of  Colonial Revival Style
	 •     Arched dormers with Gothic-style radiused muntins, common in more urban late 	
	       colonial and early Federal houses. See John Imlay House, Allentown NJ, completed 	
	       1790.
	 •     Palladian windows.
	 •     Asymmetrical composition – underlying the classical symmetry is a free 			
	       compositional organization and detailing of  windows and doors which responds to  	
	       the use of  the rooms.
	 •     Second Story overhang – recessed porch on three sides.

The initial development of  Allenhurst featured several houses of  stature and scale befitting the 
residents of  this luxury shore community, such as: 
220 Corlies Avenue, 203 Allen Ave, 307 Allen Ave and 231 Corlies Avenue. 

220 Corlies Avenue 203 Allen Avenue

307 Allen Avenue 231 Corlies Avenue

However, the residence commissioned by Alanson Page at the southern gateway to this new 
development on the corner of  Norwood Avenue and Elberon Avenue is unique in its allegiance 
to stately Neoclassical detailing.  

45 Norwood Avenue

There is existing evidence that significant alterations were made to the original structure, such as 
introduction of  steel columns and beams, and alterations and interruptions to the wood framing. 
These changes correspond to the description of  the Justice Belden residence as published in a 
1901 issue of  Scientific American. The article features “A Residence in Allenhurst”; the original 
Neoclassical – Colonial Revival house with a rear extension of  kitchen and servants rooms. The 
architect references the secondary status of  this service portion of  the residence, by changing 
the architectural style, using a gambrel roof, no classical orders and overall simplified detailing 
of  the facades.  The compositional approach of  formally and stylistically separating a primary 
residence from secondary structures is not uncommon.  However, the juxtaposition of  two 
disparate styles within a single structure is uncommon even within the eclectic nature of  this 
architectural period. This relationship is particularly awkward with the dominant organizational 
treatment of  the Neoclassical detailing.  

Today, the main house stands, with a significant memory of  its grand past, however, having 
lost much of  the details original to the historic architecture.  While the extension, bears no 
resemblance to its original architecture having been rebuilt circa 1950. 

The following timeline outlines the progression of  the development of  the corner of  Norwood 
and Elberon Avenues from 1895 to the present.  
 



9

Property Description:

45 Norwood Avenue, also referred to as 205 Elberon Avenue. (Block 17, Lot 12)
(Lots 319, 320, 321, 322, and 323 on original 1896 subdivision map)
Estate originally included what is now 209 Elberon Ave (Block 17, Lot 13)
(Lots 324 and 325 on 1896 map) 
Estate formerly included what is now 55 Norwood Ave. (Block 17, Lot 11)
(Lots 316, 317, 318 on 1896 map)

History Timeline:
 
1895 	 Allen Estate purchased by Coast Land Company, Edwin P. Benjamin as president. Tract 	
	 divided into 120 separate 50x100 ft lots at $500 each.1

1896	 (fig.1,2) Coast Land Company Map “A Souvenir of  Allen Estate, Deal Beach, N.J” 		
	 shows 6 different lots: 319, 320, 321 Main (Norwood) Ave; 322, 323, 324, Elberon (3 	
	 facing Norwood, then Main Ave, 3 facing Elberon).2

	 By May the Coast Land Company advertised that thirty new houses with gas, electric 	
	 light, sewer, water, curbed flagged walks” would be completed by June 1, six of  which 	
	 were built by the company.3

1897	 12 May: Alanson S. Page purchase 8 lots at Deal Beach.4

	 Borough of  Allenhurst is incorporated.5

	 10 Aug: Sixty two house constructed in two years ranging from $8,500 to $15,000. 400 	
	 trees planted on outside edge of  sidewalks, following a Belgian model.6

1898	 27 Jan: Anna G Belden purchases lots 319-324 from Alanson S. Page for $12,500. 		
	 Belden also purchased lot 97, Loch Arbour from the Coast Land Co., $1. (Possibly the 	
	 triangular lot 397 opposite Elberon Ave.)7

	 Anna’s husband James Jerome Belden (1825-1904) initially made a fortune in the gold 	
	 rush, later becoming a prominent politician and hotelier, canal and railroad builder. At 	
	 the time of  his death, he was reported the richest citizen of  Syracuse, NY with a net 	
	 worth of  $10M.

1899	 The Coast land company buys the 20-acre Spier estate, a 700 ft stretch of  ocean 		
	 frontage north of  Allenhurst.8

1900	 12 Jan:  Alanson S. Page et als to James J. Belden, lot 325, Allenurst, $1.9

	 (fig.3, 4) c1900 Photograph from Elberon looking northwest with the caption 		
	 “Residences at Allenhurst. Norwood Avenue.”10 The house has white trim, mid-tone 	
	 siding and dark, louvered shutters. The second floor corner has a projecting, curved 		
	 balcony 	with open “x”-patterned baluster.
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	 Similar balusters with urn finials were over the porte-cochere and northern porch. 		
	 Rear of  house not visible. Though published in 1902, the absence of  plantings suggests 	
	 the photograph was taken prior to the 1901 Scientific American images.

	 18 Oct: Article in the Shore Press mentions the “the luxurious summer home of  Mr. 	
	 Belden, in the most desirable section of  Allenhurst.” Belden had just sold $20,000 		
	 worth of  desirable lots to Counselor John F. Hawkins.11

1901	 (fig.5, 6) November: House published in Scientific American.12 House painted “deep, 	
	 brilliant red” with “ivory white” trimmings. Roof  shingles were stained a reddish color. 	
	 Entry steps were made of  wood. Sweetgum trees line Elberon Ave. Boxwood hedge at 	
	 perimeter of  property.

	 The architect was Charles William Romeyn, (1853-1942). At the time of  his death, 		
	 Romeyn was the oldest living member of  the AIA. Known for designing “the Prasada” 	
	 apartment house, he studied under Calvert Vaux, architect of  Central Park.

1902	 Oct 2: House at 45 Norwood Ave purchased for $30,000 by Sampson Quiggle Mingle 	
	 (1845-1903) and his wife Rosa “Roxanne” Bowers (d1914) of  New York City and 		
	 Williamsport, P.A. 

	 02 Oct: Anna G. Belden and James J., her hus’d, Syracuse, to Rosanna Mingle-Lots 319, 	
	 320, 321, 322, 323, 324, Allenhurst….30,000.00.13

	 31 Oct: The Journal reports that Mingle purchased the property for $68,000.14

	 Among many real estate ventures, S. Q. Mingle developed the water system for Buffalo, 	
	 NY. The Mingle family had summered in Asbury Park at the Coleman House, a hotel 	
	 on the site of  the Empress Hotel, since 1887. Daughters Bertha L. and Elizabeth; son 	
	 Henry Bowers.	
 
1903	 S.Q. Mingle dies at home 315 W 86 in New York, leaving widow and three children. 		
	 Mrs. Mingle spends the remainder of  the decade fighting off  creditors, moving in with 	
	 her son Henry’s family at 500 Fifth Avenue. Henry would become President of  Handley 	
	 Page aircraft, Elizabeth NJ.

1905 	 (fig.7) Sanborn map shows the house with 2-story angled extension with an open porch 	
	 facing Elberon Ave. Shingle roof  on house, slate or tin on attached porches. Division 	
	 wall separates main house from gambrel extension; date of  the extension is unclear. 		
	 Adjacent 209 Elberon property included with small 1-1/2 story framed storage building 	
	 in northwest corner with shingle roof.15

1905	 (fig.8) Photograph “Cottages at Allentown, N.J.” looking south, from Norwood Ave. 	
	 shows rear 1-1/2 story gambrel extension, A door, now enclosed by siding, leads to the 	
	 north balcony on the second floor. The gambrel extension shows a shed dormer with 	
	 a pair of  casement windows. Second floor of  servant wing has been extended west over 	
	 dining room. Also visible are 203 and 204 Allen Ave. The lot at 55 Norwood 		
	 serves as front lawn for 204 Allen, separated from 45 Norwood by a clipped hedge. 		
	 Visible at 45 Norwood are a series of  clipped topiary trees and a few other freestanding 	
	 trees. (Source: Library of  Congress LC-D4-16898 [P&P]) 

1910	 Roxanna Mingle sells the property (lots 319-325, Coast Map) to Frederick H. Eaton.16

	 Frederick Heber Eaton (1863-January 27, 1916) and his wife Coral Elizabeth Furman 	
	 Eaton (m1881-d1944) were first reported to visit Allenhurst in July 1899, staying at the 	
	 Coleman House.17 The couple had one daughter Mae Lovely Eaton (1882-1955). 

	 The Eatons named their estate “Maibenfritz.”18 As president of  American Car and 		
	 Foundry Company he was reported to earn $6,000/yr in 1901. Eaton built in 1903 a 	
	 house in hometown of  Berwick, PA, “Hillcrest” with exterior detailing similar 		
	 to Allenhurst so perhaps was attracted to the Mingle Estate in particular. The Berwick 	
	 house was given to their daughter upon her marriage to Clarence Gearhart Crispin 		
	 (1879-1961) in 1904.

1920	 (fig.9) Aerial photograph shows site has not changed from 1905 Sanborn (Source: US 	
	 Army Corps of  Engineers). 

1921	 A youth, Robert Simon, 209 Elberon Ave, admitted to stealing ice cream. James D. 		
	 Carton, Jr. and Sam Ingersoll also caught. Likely a son of  Mrs. Eaton’s servants.

1926	 Deed from Allenhurst and Deal Improvement Co. to Judge Alfred A. Stein. (204 Allen). 	
	 At this time Mrs. Eaton likely acquires the 55 Norwood property, an open lot to the 		
	 north.

1932	 (fig.10) Arts & Decoration magazine article on amateur gardeners illustrates a path in 	
	 what is now 55 Norwood (Lot 11) with Borough Hall (then a pharmacy)19 in the 		
	 background:

	 Among the young birches in the garden of  Mrs. Frederick H. Eaton at Allenhurst, N. J., grass grows 	
	 between each slab of  a cement walk, and takes away its formality. Mellow old bricks, some end-up, 	
	 grown with all sorts of  moss and tiny plants.20

	 Mrs. Eaton was a member of  the Rock Garden Society.21

1933	 (fig.11) Aerial photo shows the 55 Norwood lot included in the estate, with a border of  	
	 trees on three sides.

1940	 (fig.12) Aerial photo shows additional hardscape at 55 Norwood.

1943	 Mrs. Eaton dies in her home at 927 Fifth Avenue, NYC. The property is left to daughter 	
	 and son-in-law, remaining vacant during their ownership.

1945	 (fig.13) Fire damages chimney, attic, and side wall.22

1947	 (fig.14) In February, Dr. Sebastian P. Vaccaro purchases the property for $60,000.23   

	 Dr. Sebastian P. Vaccaro (1908-59). Practices medicine in Asbury Park with wife 		
	 Rosemarie Huhn (1913-87, married 1939). Main residence remains 300 Bridlemere Ave 	
	 Interlaken. 
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	 Article on the sale describes 299 ft on Norwood (incl. 55 Norwood) and 399 feet on 	
	 Elberon (Incl. 209 Elberon). Property included a six car garage with chauffeur’s quarters 	
	 above, two rock gardens, a lily pool and a fish pond. Dr. Vaccaro had once labored as a 	
	 gardener there with his grandfather, Henry. 

	 (fig.15) On August 8/9, the three parcels were set to be auctioned off, including all 		
	 interior furnishings. It is assumed the adjacent lots were sold at this time.24

	 (fig.16) Aerial photograph shows outline of  original extension intact. Paving removed 	
	 from 55 Norwood.

1953	 (fig.17) Aerial photograph shows that the original rear extension has been reduced in 	
	 footprint. Detached garage appears. Landmark document notes the garage does not 		
	 appear in the 1950 Sanborn. 

1956	 (fig.18) Aerial photograph shows little discernable change from 1953.

1963	 (fig.19) Aerial photograph shows a new house at 55 Norwood.

1967	 Feb. 2 survey by William D. Ayers shows three-car garage in location of  current garage 	
	 with asphalt area connected to asphalt drive. Dining room porch is enclosed. 
	 (See supporting documents.)

1968	 Deed from Robert Matthew Carducci and Fleurita Carducci to John E. Squeo and 		
	 Grace L. Girardi Squeo. Daughter born 1969. The Squeos ran the Allenhurst Beach 		
	 Club in the 1970s. The Carduccis lived in Holmdel, likely renting the home at		
	 45 Norwood Ave. to the Weddle family during the 1960s.

1980	 Historical American Buildings Survey, Towns of  Allenhurst and Loch Arbour 
	 (HABS No. NJ-1005) 

1981	 Deed from Squeo to Ellis DeCresce

1980s	 (est.) Garage footprint reduced to accommodate swimming pool. It is likely that this 	
	 project also included the current driveway paving material and the rear entry steps to 	
	 kitchen. Current front porch balustrade matches those at the rear entry.

1990	 Deed from Barabara N. DeCresce and Ellis N. DeCresce to Mark Lisa Realty Corp. 

1998	 Deed from Mark Lisa Realty Corp. to Louis and Rita Kessler. It notes the Kesslers 		
	 are president and secretary of  Mark Lisa Realty Corp. References survey made 		
	 by Lovenguth Surveying, Inc., dated November 16, 1989.

2010	 Allenhurst Residential Historic District receives National Register of  Historic Places 	
	 designation, certified by the National Park Service. Supporting documentation describes 	
	 205 Elberon as “Colonial Revival”.

	 Also Listed on New Jersey State Register of  Historic Places at this time

(fig 2) detail showing original lot division. Property incl. lots 319-325

(fig.1) 1896 map of  the Allen Estate.

Illustrations:
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(fig.3) c1900 photo from the 1902 book “Glimpses of  New Jersey Coast Resorts”

(fig.4) Detail of  the c1900 photo
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(fig 5, 6) views of  the house, c1901, published in Scientific American.
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(fig.7) 1905 Sanborn map showing extent of  property
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(fig.8) 1905 photo of  north facade, Library of  Congress
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(fig.9) 1920 aerial photo
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(fig.10) 1932 photo of  garden with Borough Hall in background. 
Arts & Decoration, Aug 1932. 

(fig.11) 1933 Aerial photo
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(fig.12) 1940 Aerial photo
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(fig.13) 1945 News clipping from the Asbury Park Press, 31 August 
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(fig.14) 1947 News clipping, Asbury Park Press, 22 February
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(fig.16) 1947 Aerial photo 

(fig.15) Ad for Estate auction
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(fig.17) 1953 Aerial photo
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(fig.18) 1956 Aerial photo
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(fig.19) 1963 Aerial photo 
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Supporting Documents

1967	 Feb 2 Survey from William D. Ayers

2010	 Excerpt from 2010 National Register Filing

1980	 New Jersey Department of  Environmental Protection, Office of  Cultural and 		
	 Environmental Services Historic Preservation Section; Individual Structure Survey 
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Sylvester, Marie A: Images of  America: Around Deal Lake. Dover, New Hampshire: Arcadia 
Publishing, 1998.

Architects: Guyon de Goll (National Architect’s Union, Child & Goll), Brouse & Arend, George 
Morrow
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